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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

RAY A. KNIGHT, Plaintiff,

v. ELON UNIVERSITY, Defendant.

Civil Action No.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Ray A. Knight (“Plaintiff”), appearing pro se and as a licensed attorney, alleges as
follows against Defendant Elon University (“Defendant”):

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1.

This is an action for unlawful retaliation in violation of the National Defense
Authorization Act (“NDAA”), 41 U.S.C. § 4712, and for wrongful termination in
violation of North Carolina public policy.

Plaintiff, a CPA, attorney, and tax scholar, made protected disclosures regarding
faculty-assisted cheating on federally required IRS VITA certification examinations—
misconduct that violated federal law, IRS regulations, and North Carolina criminal
statutes.

After Plaintiff reported this misconduct to departmental leadership, senior
administrators, and Human Resources, Defendant retaliated by removing him from
the VITA program director role and ultimately denying him tenure with illegal animus,
despite a glowing tenure recommendation from the only eligible evaluator in his
department.

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because Plaintiff’s
claims arise under federal law, including the NDAA and related whistleblower
protections.

Jurisdiction is also proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3).

Supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state-law claim is proper under 28 U.S.C. §
1367(a).
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7. Venue lies in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as Defendant is located here,
Plaintiff was employed here, and the retaliatory conduct occurred here.

Ill. PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Ray A. Knight is a U.S. citizen residing at 3124 Allerton Lake Drive,
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27106.

9. Defendant Elon University is a private university located at 2185 Campus Box, Elon,
North Carolina 27244, and may be served through its President, Dr. Connie Ledoux
Book.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. Plaintiff’s Professional Background

10. Plaintiff has decades of experience teaching and practicing accounting, including
positions at Western Kentucky University, Mississippi State University, Middle
Tennessee University, and Wake Forest University.

11. Plaintiff has worked at major accounting firms including PricewaterhouseCoopers,
KPMG, and Ernst & Young, and holds CPA licensure, FINRA Series 7 and 65
designations, and a J.D. from Wake Forest University School of Law.

12. Plaintiff has authored or co-authored more than 135 professional and peer-reviewed
publications.

B. Plaintiff’s Tenure-Track Appointment and Strong Performance

13. Plaintiff joined Elon University as a tenure-track Professor of Accounting in the Love
School of Business.

14. Plaintiff published approximately 20 articles while at Elon, taught core tax courses,
and nearly completed a book on tax fraud.

15. Plaintiff’s mid-point review by Dean Raghu Tadepalli in August 2020 praised his
teaching, scholarship, and leadership of the IRS VITA program.

C. Early Signs of Age Bias

16.In April 2019, President Book made age-based remarks to full professors, suggesting
older faculty were blocking younger faculty from tenure opportunities.

17. Department Chair Daniel Lanier criticized Plaintiff’s publication record as
“worthless,” despite Plaintiff being the most productive scholar in the department.
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D. Discovery and Reporting of Cheating on IRS VITA Certification Exams

18.1n 2021, Plaintiff learned that faculty member Dr. Susan Anderson had improperly
provided students with answers to IRS VITA certification exams.

19. These exams are required by federal law and IRS regulations as a condition of
participation (training and certification) in the VITA program. Defendant had signed
an IRS Form 13533 requiring the strictest standards of ethical conduct in sponsoring
a VITA (Volunteer Income Tax Assistance) program with the participation of
Accounting students.

20. Plaintiff reported this misconduct to Dr. Lanier in September 2021.
E. Protected Disclosures and Immediate Retaliation

21. One week after Plaintiff reported the cheating, Dr. Lanier removed Plaintiff from the
VITA director role and replaced him with a newly hired faculty member.

22. Plaintiff subsequently reported the misconduct to Dean Tadepalliand Human
Resources.

23. Defendant took no corrective action and did not self-report to the IRS or AACSB,
despite obligations to do so.

F. Retaliatory Statements Predicting Tenure Denial

24.1n late 2021, Professor Catherine Chiang told another faculty member (Professor
Joseph Lakatos) that Plaintiff “would be gone in two years” because he “was of that
age,” and later stated that Plaintiff “would not be granted tenure.”

G. Formal Whistleblower Complaint

25.In February 2022, Plaintiff submitted a formal written complaint to Dean Tadepalli
and HR regarding the cheating scandal.

26. Defendant failed to investigate, disclose to all parties (including the IRS and
Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business — AACSB), or remediate the
misconduct (cheating scandal). Several months later, a graduate student award was
named for the wrongdoer (Dr. Susan Anderson).

H. Plaintiff’s Tenure Application and Retaliatory Denial
27.In Fall 2022, Plaintiff submitted his tenure application.

28. Professor Chiang, the only eligible evaluator, issued a glowing recommendation
praising Plaintiff’s teaching, scholarship, and service.

3
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29. Despite this, Dean Tadepalli issued a negative recommendation.

30. Higher levels at Elon have never overturned a negative recommendation from Dean
Tadepalli.

31. Plaintiff was denied tenure in March 2023.
V. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF (Allegations can be corroborated by withess testimony)
COUNT I - Retaliation in Violation of the NDAA (41 U.S.C. § 4712)

32. Plaintiff incorporates all preceding paragraphs.

33. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity by reporting violations of federal law and
misuse of federal program resources.

34. Defendant knew of Plaintiff’s protected activity.

35. Defendant took adverse actions—including removing Plaintiff from the VITA director
role and denying tenure—with illegal animus.

36. Plaintiff’s protected activity was a contributing factor in the adverse actions.

37.Defendant cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken
the same actions absent Plaintiff’s protected disclosures.

COUNT Il - Wrongful Termination in Violation of North Carolina Public Policy
38. Plaintiff incorporates all preceding paragraphs.

39. Plaintiff engaged in protected conduct by reporting violations of N.C. Gen. Stat. §
14-118.2, which criminalizes assisting students in obtaining academic credit by
fraudulent means.

40. Defendant took adverse action by denying Plaintiff tenure.

41. A causal connection exists between Plaintiff’s protected activity and the adverse
action.

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court award the following relief:

1. Reinstatementto a faculty position for a period of 3 to 5 years, or front pay in lieu of
reinstatement.

2. Back pay and lost wages.
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3. Compensatory damages for emotional distress and reputational harm.
4. Punitive damages.
5. Afavorable letter of reference consistent with Plaintiff’s tenure recommendation.
6. Mutual confidentiality, mutual non-disparagement, and mutual releases.
7. Reasonable costs and any further relief the Court deems just and proper.
VII. JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.
Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Ray A. Knight

Ray A. Knight

3124 Allerton Lake Drive

Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Phone: (704)618-5842

Email: rayaknight@aol.com

Attorney (NC Bar #9907) and Plaintiff, Pro Se
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